Assignments of Error 

I. The Trial Court erred in not granting the motion to sever the Petitioner's trial 

from his co-defendants, resulting in a great amount of irrelevant and prejudicial 

evidence being introduced at trial against him, that would not have been admissible 

had his motion been granted and he be tried alone. 

II. The sentence imposed in this matter shocks the conscience, and is violative of the 

Petitioner's rights pursuant to Article III, Section V of the West Virginia Constitution 

requiring proportionality, as well as prohibitions against cruel and unusual 

punishment. 
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Statement of the Case 

On January 9, 2015 officers of the Oak Hill Police Department responded to the 

residence of 91 Robinson Street, Oak Hill, Fayette County, West Virginia after receiving 

a call reporting a burglary in progress. Appendix 1, pp. 1-2. 

Upon arrival, Officers Pack and Young were met by one of the victims, Andrew 

Gunn, at the front door. Appendix I, pg. 2. The victim told the officers that four black 

male individuals had just fled from the residence after robbing the home. Id. After 

securing the scene, the officers received assistance from Cpl. Shannon Morris, a K-9 

officer with the Fayette County Sheriff's Department, who led the K-9 through a section 

of terrain the officers believed the suspects to have fled through. Id. 

After completing the K-9 search, four of the victims were taken to the Oak Hill 

Police Department to give recorded statements concerning the robbery. Id. 

The victims relayed to the officers that four black males entered the residence 

through the front door, two of the assailants being armed, one with a long gun and one 

with a pistol. Id. The two armed assailants ordered the residents to get on the ground 

while the assailants trained their weapons on them. Id. The two unarmed assailants 

then went to the back bedroom of the residence belonging to the victim Andrew Gunn. 

Id. 

Andrew Gunn reported to the officers that the two unarmed assailants took a 

safe containing approximately $9,000.00 in U.S. currency, a Horton Legacy Team Real 

Tree Crossbow, a pair of Jordan Columbia 11 shoes, and a pair of Jordan Infrared 6 

shoes. Id pp. 2-3. 
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During the course of the investigation, a short time after the incident was 

reported, Officer Young received information of possible suspects living in the 

Newberry, South Carolina area. Id at pg. 3. On January 14, 2015 Officers Young and 

Pack traveled to Newberry, SC and met with Deputies of the Newberry County 

Sheriff's Department who obtained search warrants for a residence in Newberry 

County, South Carolina. Appendix 1, pg. 3. 

Upon arrival at 124 Boyds Place, Little Mountain, South Carolina, officers 

discovered Rashod Wicker, Kentrell Goodman, and Lindsay Hess. Id. During a search 

of the property officers recovered a Horton Legacy Team Real Tree Crossbow, a pair of 

Jordan Columbia 11 shoes, and a pair of Jordan Infrared 6 shoes inside the residence. 

Id. In the back yard of the property the officers discovered a safe with damage to the 

door. Id. Given that all of these items matched the description of the items Andrew 

Gunn had reported were taken during the robbery, the three subjects were transported 

to the Newberry County Sheriff's Department for questioning. Id. 

Kentrell Goodman was advised of his Miranda Rights and agreed to give a 

recorded statement at the Newberry County Sheriff's Office. Id. Kentrell Goodman 

stated that he had told his brother, Kevin Goodman, Jr. (the Petitioner), about the 

residence of Andrew Gunn in Oak Hill, WV, and stated he told him it contained a safe 

with a large amount of United States Currency. Id. Kentrell then stated that in the 

early morning hours of Janurary 9, 2015, that he, Rashod Wicker, Kevin Goodman Jr., 

Antwyn Gibbs, and Radee Hill drove to Oak Hill, West Virginia in Lindsay Hess' car to 

an area behind Andrew Gunn's residence. Id. 
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Though Kentrell gave a slightly different version of the events to officers and at 

the trial in this matter, it was the testimony at trial that while Rashod Wicker stayed 

with the vehicle, Kentrell Goodman, Kevin Goodman, Jr., Radee Hill, and Antwyn 

Gibbs went through the woods to the residence at 91 Robinson Street, Oak Hill, West 

Virginia, made entry, and two of the men held the occupants at gunpoint while the 

other two men stole the safe and various items from the bedroom of Andrew Gunn. 

Appendix I, pg. 3, Appendix IV, pg. 269-272.1 

Kentrell then stated to the officers that Kevin Goodman, Jr. through the loot out 

of the bedroom window, jumped out of the window, picked up the safe, and the four 

assailants retreated through the woods back to their vehicle and fled to South Carolina. 

Appendix I, pg. 4. 

Upon arrival in South Carolina, the party went to the home of Antwyn Gibbs, 

opened the safe, and divided the contents of the safe amongst the five of them, which 

was approximately $9,000.00. Appendix I, pg. 4. 

On January 15, 2015 the Newberry County Sheriff's Department executed two 

arrest warrants for Radee Maurice Hill and Antwyn Dante Gibbs. Appendix I, pg. 17. 

During the arrest and execution of a search warrant on the person and home of Antwyn 

1 While Kentrell Goodman testified that he remained outside of the residence for the entirety of the incident, Linda 
Knight, Edward Knight, and Andrew Gunn testified that four individuals had actually entered the home. Further, 
there was conflicting testimony as to who was actually carrying a weapon out ofthe four assailants. For the 
purposes ofthis appeal, Counsel for the Petitioner has conferred with the Respondent's Counsel and both have 
come to the conclusion that for the purposes of this appeal it is not relevant as to whether Kentrell Goodman 
actually entered the home, or who was actually carrying a weapon. Given that providing this information to the 
Court would require the submission of transcripts encompassing over 600 pages of testimony, both Counsel for the 
Petitioner and Respondent's Counsel concur that this information is unnecessary for the Court to make a 
determination in this case based upon the Petitioner's Assignments of Error. Should the Court wish the record to 
be supplemented with this information, Petitioner's Counsel will gladly comply. 
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Gibbs (294 Providence AME Church Road, Little Mountain, SC), officers recovered pair 

of shoes consistent with prints found at 91 Robinson Street Oak Hill, WV, shot gun 

rounds, a silver in color semi-automatic pistol, and various spent shotgun shells. Id. 

On or about March 24, 2015 Kevin Goodman Jr. was arrested and taken into custody, 

and subsequently extradited to West Virginia. Id. 

On May 12, 2015 the Fayette County Grand Jury returned a true bill of 

indictment for Antwyn D. Gibbs, Kentrell Goodman, Kevin Goodman, Jr., Radee M. 

Hill, and Rashod C. Wicker (Fayette County Case Nos. 15-F-64, 65, 66, 67, and 68 

respectively) alleging that on or about the 9th day of January, 2015 the aforementioned 

individuals committed the offenses of Conspiracy to Commit a Felony, Robbery in the 

First Degree by the threat of deadly force by the presentment of a firearm, Entry of a 

Dwelling, and Grand Larceny. Appendix 1, pp. 7-8. 

On May 29, 2015 Kevin Goodman, Jr. was arraigned in the Circuit Court of 

Fayette County on Indictment No. 15-F-66, and his trial was set for August 18,2015 at 

9:00 AM. Appendix 1, pg. 9. 

On July 29, 2015 Co-Defendant Radee M. Hill filed, by his counsel, a Motion to 

Sever his trial from that of his co-defendants, and properly noticed the matter for a 

hearing on August 7, 2015. Appendix 1, pp. 26-28. At the hearing, all three co

defendants made motions (Goodman and Gibbs orally) to sever their trials from one 

another, and the Court held judgment on the matter until counsel for Goodman and 

Gibbs submitted briefs on the matter, and scheduled a hearing to resolve the issue on 

August 18, 2015. Appendix 1, pg. 32. The Court also found good cause to continue the 
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trial currently set on that date, based upon the motions of the State and the Defendant. 

Id. 

In the time intervening the two hearings, Defendant Goodman, by counsel, filed 

a Notice of Alibi (August 11,2015) and a Motion to Sever (August 14,2015). Appendix 

L pp. 18-25. 

The Trial Court, after conducting a hearing on the matter, denied all three 

defense motions to sever the trials in this matter, finding that "the Court must consider 

the cost of separate trials to tax payers and judicial economy; the defendant's positions 

are not inherently inconsistent, such that a joint trial would prevent any defendant from 

asserting a proper defense; multiple trials would place an undue burden on the 

cooperating witnesses in this matter; joint trials are permissible pursuant to West 

Virginia Rule of Criminal Procedure 14b unless prejudice to the defendants can be 

shown. In this matter there is no evidence before the Court that any prejudice would 

inure to the detriment of any defendant with a unitary trial." Appendix!, pp. 34-35. 

Further, the Court set the trial date for all three co-defendants for September 9,2015 at 

9:00 AM. Appendix I, pg. 35. 

After a three-day jury trial, a petit jury found all three co-defendants guilty of 

Conspiracy to Commit a Felony, Robbery in the First Degree, and Entry of a Dwelling.2 

Appendix!, pp. 42-44. Whereupon, the Court entered a Conviction Order based upon 

the verdict of the jury on September 28, 2015, ordered a pre-sentence investigation 

2 The Charge of Grand larceny, as charged against all of the co-defendants in the joint indictment, was dismissed 
upon motion of the State in the middle of the trial. 
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report to be prepared by the Probation Department, and scheduled the Petitioner's 

sentencing hearing on November 9, 2015. Appendix I, pp. 45-48. 

On November 9, 2015 the Trial Court held a sentencing hearing for the purposes 

of imposing sentence upon Kevin Goodman, Jr. in Indictment No. 15-F-66. Appendix 1, 

pg. 60. The Court imposed sentence as follows: for the conviction of Conspiracy to 

Commit a Felony 1 to 5 years in the West Virginia State Penitentiary, for the conviction 

of Robbery in the First Degree a determinate sentence of 50 years in the West Virginia 

State Penitentiary, and for the conviction of Entry of a Dwelling 1 to 10 years in the 

West Virginia State Penitentiary. Appendix 1, pg. 61. The Trial Court ordered the 

aforementioned sentences to be served consecutively. Id. 

The Court, in denying probation and imposing sentence, took into consideration 

the following: 

1. "The Defendant is twenty-three (23) years old. 

2. The Defendant is a high school graduate. 

3. The Defendant has been married and is divorced. 

4. The Defendant [has] two (2) illegitimate children. 

5. The Defendant is unemployed. 

6. The Defendant has denied responsibility for this crime. 

7. The Defendant testified in his trial and brought a girlfriend to alibi him. 

8. 	 The Defendant's criminal history consists of the following: 


03-10-2014- Following too closely; No Driver's License 


11-12-2012- Probation Violation 
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01-25-2012- Burglary 

9. 	 The Defendant's driver's license is revoked. 

10. 	 The Defendant does not support his children. 

11. 	 The Defendant's LS/CMI score of 38 places him in the very high risk level. 

12. 	 To place the Defendant on probation would unduly deprecate the 

seriousness of the offense. Appendix Lpg. 62 

The Defendant was remanded to the custody of the Division of Corrections to 

serve his sentences. Appendix Lpg. 62. 
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Summary of Argument 

The Petitioner's conviction should be overturned, and the case should be 

remanded to the Circuit Court for a new trial for the following reasons: 

1. The Defendant was improperly joined with his two co-defendants, Radee Hill 

and Antwyn Gibbs, at trial. The vast majority of the physical evidence in this case was 

relevant to Defendant Gibbs, and the introduction of that evidence in a joint trial was 

prejudicial to the Petitioner. 

The primary evidence against the Petitioner was the testimony of the two co

defendants that pled guilty prior to trial, Kentrell Goodman and Rashod Wicker. None 

of the physical evidence of the crime was ever found in the care, custody, or control of 

the Petitioner, none of his fingerprints or DNA were recovered from the physical 

evidence, and none of the stolen property was recovered from him. Authorities had no 

indication, based on the physical evidence presented at trial, that the Petitioner was in 

any way involved in the crime. 

The introduction of the weapons, shotgun shell waddings, loot of the crime, and 

cell phone records of Antwyn Gibbs was unduly prejudicial to the Petitioner's case. 

However, it was relevant to the case of Antwyn Gibbs, and therefore the Petitioner's 

motion to sever his trial from his co-defendants should have been granted. 

II. The Petitioner's sentence for Robbery in the First Degree, fifty (50) years, was 

disproportionate to the crime, shocks the conscience, and violates the Petitioner's State 

Constitutional rights to be sentenced in proportion with the crime for which he was 

found guilty. 
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None of the victims of this crime were physically harmed. Although firearms 

were used during the commission of the crime, no one was physically harmed due to 

the Petitioner's alleged conduct. 

It shocks the conscience that someone convicted of Second Degree Murder, a 

Murder with Malice, statutorily could not receive more than forty (40) years in the West 

Virginia State Penitentiary, but the Petitioner is subject to a sentence only limited by the 

imagination of the Circuit Court for a crime that involved no physical injuries. The 

Trial Court erred in not satisfying proportionality tests on the record in sentencing the 

Petitioner in this matter. 
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Rule 18(a) Statement and Rule 20 Request for Oral Argument 

In accordance with Rule 10(6) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, 

the Petitioner states that (1) he does not waive oral argument in this case, (2) this appeal 

is not frivolous, (3) the dispositive issues in this case have not been authoritatively 

decided, and (4) the decisional process would be aided by oral argument as certain 

matters in contention in this appeal are of first impression. 

The Petitioner requests Oral Arguments in this case pursuant to Rule 20 of the 

West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure. In support of the Petitioner's request, the 

Petitioner alleges that: 

1. This is a case of first impression as to what considerations should be made by 

the Trial Court in exercising discretion in granting or denying a motion for severance in 

accordance with Rule 14(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure. There are 

no signed opinions that this attorney has found since the implementation of the current 

rule in 2006, and there are conflicting rulings at the Trial Court level as it pertains to 

Rule 14(b). 

2. This is a case of fundamental public importance pertaining to the increasing 

use of unitary trials for co-defendants under the same indictment, and the attendant 

constitutional and evidentiary concerns that are present when a great deal of evidence 

is relevant to one Defendant and not another. 

3. This case involves constitutional questions as to the Petitioner's State 

Constitutional protections of proportionality of sentence in relation to the criminal act. 
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Argument 

I. The Trial Court erred in not granting the motion to sever the Petitioner's trial 

from his co-defendants, resulting in a great amount of irrelevant and prejudicial 

evidence being introduced at trial against him, that would not have been admissible 

had his motion been granted and he be tried alone. 

The appropriate standard of review of a Circuit Court's denial of a pre-trial 

motion to sever is an abuse of discretion standard, as this Court has said before that 

"We have held that a trial court's ruling on a severance motion is considered under an 

abuse of discretion standard. SyI. Pt. 3, State v. Hatfield, 181 W.Va. 106, 380 S.E.2d 670 

(1989) (considering a motion for severance of offenses filed under W.Va. R. Crim. P. 

14(a)); SyI. Pt. I, State v. Rash, 226 W.Va. 35, 697 S.E.2d 71 (2010) (same)." 

In this instance, the joinder of the Petitioner with his co-defendants resulted in 

the admission into evidence of a substantial amount of irrelevant and prejudicial 

evidence that was linked to Defendant Gibbs and not the Petitioner. 

The rule at issue in this case provides that: 

"If the joinder of defendants in an indictment, an information, or a 

consolidation for trial appears to prejudice a defendant or the State, the 

Court may sever the defendants I trials, or provide whatever other relief that 

justice requires. If it appears that a defendant or the state is prejudiced by a 

joinder of defendants in a misdemeanor indictment or information, the 

court may order separate trials of the defendants. In ruling on a motion by 

a defendant for severance in a misdemeanor case, the court may order the 
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attorney for the state to deliver to the court for inspection in camera any 

statements or confessions made by the defendants or other relevant 

information which the state intends to introduce into evidence at the trial." 

W. Va. RCr.P., Rule 14(b), 2016. 

The Trial Court, in considering the Defendants' (all three) motions to sever 

their trials, held that a joint trial is "preferred unless [someJ extreme prejudice can 

be shown." Appendix IV, pg. 16. Further, the Court found that "the evidence 

against all three of these men is the same." Id. Next, the Court considered the cost 

to the taxpayers of providing three separate trials. Appendix IV, pg. 17. Finally, 

the Court considered the speedy trial rights of the last individual to get to go to 

trial. Id.3 

In dealing with the first consideration of the Trial Court, this Court has said that 

Petitioner must make an affirmative showing of prejudice in order to justify separate 

trials, as the preference is for one single trial since the 2006 amendment to Rule 14. 

State v. Cross, 2013 W. Va. LEXIS 1251, 2013 WL 5966968 (W. Va. Nov. 8, 

2013)(memorandum decision). 

In the instant case, an affirmative showing was made as to the applicability of the 

physical evidence to the Petitioner in relation to the other two co-defendants. Appendix 

3 The Court also considered an argument by counsel for Defendant Gibbs that all three of these defendants were 
African-American and from out of state, and given the African American population of Fayette County, WV 
amounted to 4.6% of the population as of the last census, it could possibly be prejudicial to put three African 
Americans on trial together in Fayette County. As circumstances would have it, there were actually three (3) 
African Americans on the jury at trial, with two being excused for cause (one due to a personal relationship and 
knowledge of one of the defendants and one of the victims, one due to her ex-husband being represented by 
counsel for Defendant Hill during her divorce from her ex-husband). 
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!Y, pg. 11, Appendix 1, pp. 20-22. The written motion for severance submitted by the 

Petitioner prior to trial, specifically in Paragraph 14, affirmatively states that the 

Defendant "is primarily accused of the aforementioned crimes by testimonial evidence 

of co-defendants in this matter, and there is a profound lack of physical evidence 

against him." Appendix 1, pg. 22. 

During the trial in this matter a multitude of exhibits were presented by the State 

that the Petitioner, by counsel, objected to at trial on the basis of relevancy (all State's 

Exhibits): 

1. Exhibit 18- Photo of Defendant Gibbs' backyard. Appendix IV, pg. 12 

2. Exhibits 19, 20, 21- Photos of Shotgun wadding, shotgun shell casings from 

Defendant Gibbs' backyard. Appendix IV, pp. 14-15. 

3. Exhibits 22, 23, 24, and 27- Photos of safe pieces, shotgun shells and wadding 

from Defendant Gibbs' backyard. Appendix IV, pg. 19. 

4. Exhibits 15 and 16- Photos of safe pieces in Defendant Gibbs' backyard. 

Appendix IV, pg. 20. 

5. Exhibits 17, 25, and 26- Photos of spent shotgun casings and wadding from 

Defendant Gibbs' backyard. Appendix IV, pg. 23. 

6. Exhibit 14-large piece of safe fragment found in Defendant Gibbs' backyard. 

Appendix IV, pg. 25. 

7. Exhibit 28- shotgun shell found in a mattress in Defendant Gibbs' home. 

Appendix IV, pg. 28. 
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8. Exhibits 52,53, and 54- Shotgun shells found in Defendant Gibbs' backyard. 

Appendix IV, pg. 32. 

9. Exhibit 5- pieces of safe found in Defendant Gibbs' backyard, also four of the 

seven fragments could not be matched to the safe. Appendix IV, pg. 34. 

10. Exhibit 44, shotgun shell from a bedroom in Defendant Gibbs' home. Appendix 

!Y, pg. 39. 

11. Exhibit 55- Shotgun wadding from Defendant Gibbs' backyard. Appendix IV, 

pg.56. 

12. Exhibit 38- Gun found in bedroom of Defendant Gibbs' home. Appendix IV, pg. 

64. 

13. Exhibits 39 and 40- bullets and magazine for the handgun found in a bedroom of 

Defendant Gibbs' home. Appendix IV, pg. 66. 

14. Exhibit 60- Cellphone of Defendant Gibbs. Appendix IV, pg. 71.

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