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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

Petitioner's assignments of error are without merit and this Court should ~ the 

conviction far two reasons: (I) the trial court did not abuse itS discretion when it deniedpetitioner's 

motion for severance from his two co-defendants; and (2) the trial court properly exercised its 

discretion insentencing petitioner to aflfty year prisonterm. for his first degree robbery conviction. 

The trial court properly exercised its discretion in denying petitioner~s motion for 

severance from his co-defendants. First, the trial court found the evidence presented at trial was 

virtually the same for ail three co-defendants and that this evidence arose from the same criminal 

act. Thus, the evidence did not rise to the level ofunfair prejudice that substantially outweighed 

its probative value. Second, neither petitioner, nor his co-defendants presented conflicting defenses 

at trial. Therefore, petitioner's first assignment oferror is without merit. 

The trial court was also within its authority to impose a :fifty year prison sentence for 

petitioner's first degree robbery conviction. Petitioner's ·sentence does not violate the 

proportionality doctrine oftbe West Virginia Constitution because it fails both the subjective and 

objective proportionality tests. Under the subjective test, ,petitioner's sentence fails to shock the 
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conscience, as much greater sentences have been imposed in this state. Under the four~pl'Ong 

objective test, petitioner's fifty year sentence also meets the constitutional proportionality 

requirement First, the natllre of bis crime was heinous and violent. Second, the West Virginia 

Legislature has given trial courts broad discretion in sentencing people convicted of armed 

robbery. Third, several other states mandate prison sentences comparable to the sentence i11Jposed 

tmder West Virginia law. Finally, this Court has affirmed sentences for armed robbery muoh 

greater than petitioner's. Therefore, petitioner's prison sentence is proportional to the armed 

robbery for which he was convicted. 

ARGUMENT 

A. 	 The Trial Court properly exercised its discretion in de~ng petitioner's motion to 
sever his trial from his co~defendants because the evidence for aU three eo-defendants 
is inextricably intertwined, as it arose from the same robbery, and the eo-defendants 
did not present m.utually exclusive defenses at trial•. 

Petitioner first challenges the trial court's denial ofbis motion for severance from his co

defendants. Because the decision to grant or deny a motion for severance rests upon the discretion 

of the trial court, this Court must review the trial court's decision under an abuse of discretion 

standard. 8y1. Pt. 1, State 11. Rash, 226 W. Va. 35, 697 8.E.2d 71 (20l0) (analyzing a motion to 

sever offenses made pursuant to Rule 14(a) ofthe West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure). 

In a crimina1 prosecution, it is permissible to charge more than one defendant in the same 

indictment "if they are alleged to have participated in the same act or transaction or in the same 

series of acts or transactions constituting an offense or offenses." W. Va. R Crim. P. 8(b) (1996). 

All ofthe defendants are not required to be charged in each count in the indictment Id. 

In addition to joining defendants together in a single 1rial, a trial comt is permitted to sever 

joined defendants if a party shows prejudice as a result oftb.ejoinder. W. Va. R. Crim.. P. 14(b) 

(2006). Rule 14(b) states in pertinent part that <'[i]fthe joinder ofdefendants in an indictment, an 

8 




'. 

'. 

infonnatio~ or a consolidation for trial appears to prejudice a defendant or the State, the Court 

may sever the defendants' trials, or provide whatever other relief justice req~es·." Id 

Upon review, when considel1ng whether a trial court abused its discretion in denying a 

motion to sever defendants, this Court has previously looked to three factors; (1) whether evidence 

brought against co-defendants is "inextricably intertwined"; (2) whether that evidence "arose from 

the same act or transaction"; and (3) whether the co-defendants presented. conflicting defenses. 

State 11. Cross, 2013 W. Va. LEXIS 1251,2013 WL 5966968 (W. Va. Nov. 8, 2013)(mem.orandum 

decision); State v. Grantham, 2013 W. Va. LEXIS 1360, 2013 WL 6152080 CW. Va. Nov. 22, 

2013) (memorandum decision). 

This Court has recognized that Ru1e 14 of the WeSt Virginia Rules ofCriminal Procedure 

tracks Rule 14 of the Federal Rules ofCriminal Procedure. Rash, 226 W. Va. at 44, 697 S.E.2d at 

80 (quoting State v. Ludwick, 197 W. Va. 70,73,745 S.E.2d 70,73 (1996») (considering federal 

case law inreviewing amotion for sevemnce of offenses). Therefore, the Commay lookto federal 
I 

case law for review of a trial court'8 denial ofa motion for severance of co-defendants. See id. 

Rule 14 of the Federal Rules of Criminal procedure ·states in relevant part that "[i]f the 

joinder of ... defendants in an indictment ... appears to prejudice a defendant or the government, 

the court may ... sever the defendants' trials." F .R. Crim. P. 14(a) (2002). In its interpretation of 

federal Rule 1~. the United States Supreme Court has held that, in federal courts, joint trials are 

preferable :in order to facilitate judicial economy and efficiency. Zajiro v. Unites States, 506 U.S. 

5~4, 540, 113 S. Ct. 933, 122 L. Ed. 2d 317 (1993). The preference for joint trials trumps a 

defendant's motion for severance from co-defendants, provided that the defendant's right to a fair 

trial is not substantially prejudiced, Id. A defendant's motion for severance should not be granted 

merely because the defendant "ha[s] a better chance of acquittal in separate trials," Id Moreov~, 
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the Supreme Court expressed a preference for measures less drastic than severance, including 

limiting instructions. Id at 539. In Zajiro v. United States, four co-defendants' made various 

motions for severance made under the federal Rule 14 by reason ofmutually antagonistic defenses, 

all ofwbich were denied by the trial court 506 U.S. at 536. The Supreme Court affirmed the co

defendants' convictions for drug~related crimes and the trial court's denial of~e motions to sever 

the four co-defendants' trials, id at 537, rejecting the defendants' separate assertions ofinnocence 

were per se antagonistic and requiring a specific showing of prejudice, see id at 539,540. 

Here, the trial cqurt did not abuse its discretion in denying petitioner's motion for severance 

because it considered the factors this Court outlined in Cross and Grantham. As to whether the 

evidence against each co-de:fendant was inextricably intertwined, the trial court found that the 

evidence -was virtually the same for all co-defendants and that it arose from the same transaction. 

Moreover, the co-defen.dants did not present conflicting defenses at trial. During petitioner's 

motion for severance, he merely alluded to the possibili~ ofprejudice, rather than showing actual 

prejudice. 

In addition to the Cr08S factors, the trial court made several other pertinent considerations 

during the hearing for petitioner's motion for severance. First, the trial court noted that this Comt's 

previollB decisions seemed to show a preferenc~ for joint' trials, unless a party sufficiently 

demonstrates prejudice. Second, the trial court expressed concern. for resolving the three 

codefendants' cases in a speedy fashion, as well as the expense ofthree separate trials. Moreover, 

1he trial court believed evidentiary issues that may have arisen from the codefendants testifying . 

against each other could be alleviated by proper limiting instructions to the jury
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Because the trial court made proper considerations in its decision to deny petitioner's 

motion for severance, it did not abuseits discretion. Therefore, this Court should affirmpetitioner's 

conviction. 

B. 	 The evidence offered against petitioner at trial was neither irrelevant, nor 
substantially prej'udicial to petitioner. 

As primary grounds for the monon for severance, petitioner contends the physical evidence 

presented at trial was both prejudicial and irrelevant as it pertained to petitioner. This raises the 

overlapping issue of whether the trial court properly admitted evidence against petitioner. This 

Court reviews evidentiary rulings of a mal. court for abuse of discretion. Syi. Pt. 4, State Y. 

RodoussakJs, 204 W. Va. 58, 511 S.E.2d 469 (1998). 

Generally, relevant evidence is admissible, and .irrelevant evidence is inadmissible. W. Va. 

R Evid. 402 (2014). "Evidence is relevant if: (a) it has any tendency to make a fact more or less 

probable than it would be without the evidence; and (b) the [asserted] fact is of consequence in 

determining the action." W. Va R Bvid. 401 (2014). Relevant evidence may be inadmissible 

under the state or fedetal Constitutions, the West Virginia Rules of evidence, or other rules this 

Court adopts, or the trial court has the discretion to "exclude relevant evidence if itS probative 

value is substantially outweighed by a danger of ... unfair prejudice." W. Va. R. Evid. 402, 403 

(2014). These rules direct trial courts ''to admit relevant evidence, but to exclude evidence whose 

probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of prejudice to the defendant." Sy1. Pt. . 

4, Gable v. Kroger, 186 W. Va 62,410 S.E.2d 701 (1991). 

If evidence is erroneously admitted at trial, this Court must determine whether such an 

error was harmless to the defendant Syl. Pt 10, State v. Mills, 219 W. Va. 28, 631 S.E.2d 586 

(2005) (per curiam). In a criminal proceeding, "[a]nyerror, defect, irregularity, or variance which 

~oes not affect substantial rights shall be disregarded." W. Va R. Crlm. P. 52(a) (1981). This 
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Court's analysis asks whether an error was harmless by detennining whether properly admitted 

evidence was sufficient to sustain a conviction and whether erroneously admitted. evidence 

prejudiced thejm:y at trial. Sy1. Pt. 10, Mills. 

Here, though petitioner questions the relevance of the physical evidence admitted at trial. 

petitioner acknowledges that two ofthe five codefendants offered testimonial evidence that tended 

to inculpate petitioner in the events that occurred surrounding the home invasion and robbery. As 

to the physical evidence, petitioner objected to a substantial portion of it on the grounds that such 

evidence was irrelevant and prejudicial. Petitioner fails to specify which of the physical evidence 

admitted at trial constitutes reversible error~ but rather makes a blanket statement that '!he physical 

evidence was irrelevant and prejudicial. Generally, these determinations fall within the discretion 

of the trial comt and should not be disturbed unless petitioner raises some specifically stated 

prejudicial impact on the jury. In this case, there is none. 

Moreover, assUIIlin& for the sake of argwnent, that the trial court abused its discretion in 

denying petitioner's motion for severance, 1he conviction should be affirmed because the error was 

hannless. If this Court detennines that any of the physical evidence was erroneously admitted 

against petitioner. direct testimony from Kentrell Goodman and Rashod Wicker, both of whom 

made plea agreements with the State, inculpated petitioner in the robbery. Additionally, 

petitioner's wallet was recovered from the horne where stolen property connected to the robbery 

was recovered.. namely the crossbow and shoes. which does provide a link to at least some of the 

physical evidence admitted at 1ria1. Therefore, there was sufficient evidence -to find petitioner 

guilty ofthe robbery ofthe Knights' home. Because the trial court did not abuse its discretion and 

because there was sufficient evidence to convict petitioner ofall cruirges, this Court should affirm 

petitioner's conviction. 
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C. 	 Petitioner's sentence was proportional to the crime he committed and did not violate 
his right to be free of cruel and unuwal punishment under the West Virginia 
Constitution because the sentence neither. shocks the conscience nol' does it fail this 
Court's objective test of proportionality. 

Petitioner next raises the issue of whether the fifty-year prison sentence for first degree 

robbery is proportional to the crime he committed. This Court must revi~w 1he sentencing order 

"under a deferential abuse of discretion stm:J.dard, unless the order violates statutory or 

constitutional commands." SyI. Pt. 1, State v. Lucas, 201 W. Va. 271,496 S.E.2d 221 (1997). 

In West Virginia, the statutory penalty for :first degree robbery is a minimum of ten years 

imprisonment. W. VA. CODE § 61-2-12 (2000). The West Virginia Constitution requires that 

penalties "be proportioned to the character and nature ofthe offence:' W. VA. CaNST. art. m. § 5, 

This Court uses two tes1s, as part of the same analysis, to determine proportionality of a given 

sentence. State 11. Adams, 211 W. Va. 231.234,565 S.E.2d 353,356 (2002) (quoting State v, 

Cooper. 172 W. Va. 266, 272. 304 S.E.2d SS1, 857 (l9S3». The first test is a subjective one and 

asks whether a sentence under review "shocks the conscience." Id, In order meet the standard of 

shocldng the conscience, the sentence must be unable to "pass a societal and judicial sense of 

justice." Id The analysis requires "consider[ing] all ofthe circ~ances surrounding the offense." 

Id. For example, :in State v. Adams, this Court focused primarily on the defendant's prior criminal 

hibiory in finding that a ninety-year sentence for aggravated robbery was appropriate. Id. 

Ifthe sentence does not shock "the conscience, then $e Court will continue the analysis of 

proportionality under an objective test, Id Under the second, objective test ofproportionality, the 

Court considers four factors: "the nature of the offense, the legislative purpose behind the 

punishment, a comparison ofthe punishment with what would be inflicted in other jurisdictions. 

and a comparison with other offenses within the same jurisdiction," Sy1. Pt. 5, Wanstreet v. 

Bordenldrcher, 166 W. Va, 523,276 S.E.2d 205 (1981). 
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Here, petitioner recognizes that this Court has previously affirmed sentences for first 

degree robbery much greater than petitioner's sentence. Brief ofP. at 20; see, e.g .• Adams, 211 W. 

Va. at 232, 565 S.E.2d at 354 (upholdlng a ninety-year sentence for aggravated robbery); State v. 

Booth, 224 W. Va. 307,312,316,685 S.E.2d 701, 706, 710 (2009) (per curiam.) (holding that an 

eighty-year sentence for :first degree robbery was proportional). Thus, petitioner does not raise 

any issue under the subjective test of proportionality, specifically that his sentence truly shocks 

anyone's conscience. Thus, this Court may apply the objective test of sentence proportionality. 

As to the nature of the offense, petitioner seems satisfied with. merely considering that 

"there were no reported physical injuries." Brief of P. at 20. However, this clinical consideration 

falls short ofpainting an accurate portrait of the truly heinous nature ofpetitioner's crime. When 

petitioner and his partners broke into the home of the Edward and Linda Knight, the elderly 

Knights and two of their young grandchildren were in the house. Linda Knight was helping her 

granddaughter get ready for school whe~ these armed men broke into her house. These men held 

Mrs. Knight and her two grandchildren at gunpoint, forcing them to get on their knees. Mrs. Knight 

began having chest pains as she attempted to shield the children. The little girl was so terrified that 

she wet herself. Petitioner destroyed the sanctity ofthe Knights home and threatened the lives of 

an elderly couple and two minor children, the psychological hmm of which is unfathomable. 

Though there were no physical injuries reported, the presence ofmUltiple firearms put this family 

in fear and danger for their lives. Petitioner cannot seriously contend that the nature ofthis home 

invasion was anYthing less than deplorable. 

The West Virginia Legislature recognizes that armed robberies puts victims at serious risk 

ofserious bodily injury or even death. Crawford v. Ballard, 2011 W. Va. LEXIS 481, 2011 WL 

8193068 CW. Va. Nov. 28 2011) (memorandum decision) (upholding two consecutive twenty
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eight year sentences for two comrts of first degree robbery where no physical injuries were 

reported). The Legislature believed the risk of injury as a result of armed robbery was sufficient 

to give trial courts "broad discretion in sentencing defendants convicted ofthe crime offirst degree 

robbery." Id 

Under the third prong of the test, the Court looks to the sentences imposed by other 

jurisdictions for similar crimes. A majority of states impose shorter prison sentences for their 

statu:toly equivalents of anned robbery. SeeJ e.g., MD. CODE ANN., CRrM. L. § 3-403 -(2005) 

(maximum sentence twenty years); S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-11-330(a) (1996) (maximum sentence 

thirty years); WISe. STAT. ANN. §§ 939.50, 943.32 (2016) (maximum sentence forty years). 

However, a significant minority of states require statutory prison sentences similar to Wes! 

Virginia's, namely Virginia, Massachusetts, and Oklahoma, all of which pennit trial courts to 

sentence defendants convicted ofarmed robbery to a prison term offive ye81'S to life. MAss. GEN.

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